Corporate Caging's Human Erasure

How corporate law enables uncountability in private jails and prisons

Author

Lucy Jane Litt

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to Julie Abbate, Ashley Austin, Shania Bunbury, Professor Michele Deitch, Andie Forsee, (the legendary) Professor Jon Hanson, Linda McFarlane, Carly Margolis, Ata Ege Nalbantoğlu, Breanne Parker, Anna Sherman-Weiss, Bill Van Der Pol, the Spring 2021 Corporations Teaching Team, the Justice Initiative community, my family, and several others for advice, feedback, and suggestions. I am especially grateful to my mom for fiercely supporting my work in this space for over a decade, getting to know my former (incarcerated) high school students for the resilient, thoughtful, and inspiring children they were, and always eagerly learning about these issues alongside me. My deepest gratitude goes to my former students, clients, and their loved ones for trusting me, allowing me into their worlds, and teaching me so much—their experiences drive everything I do.

About the Critical Corporate Theory Collection

The Critical Corporate Theory Collection is part of the *Systemic Justice Journal*, published by the Systemic Justice Project at Harvard Law School. The Collection is comprised of papers that analyze the role of corporate law in systemic injustices. The authors are Harvard Law students who were enrolled in Professor Jon Hanson's Corporations course in the spring of 2021.

The Collection addresses the premise that corporate law is a core underlying cause of most systemic injustices and social problems we face today. Each article explores how corporate law facilitates the creation and maintenance of institutions with tremendous wealth and power and provides those institutions a shared, single interest in capturing institutions, policies, lawmakers, and norms, which in turn further enhance that power and legitimates its unjust effects in producing systems of oppression and exploitation.

For more information about the *Systemic Justice Journal* or to read other articles in the Critical Corporate Theory Collection, please visit

the website at <u>www.systemicjustice.org</u>.

This paper was first published in July 2021. © 2021. The contents and opinions expressed in this paper are those of the author only.

Contents

PART 1: INTRODUCTION 1
PART 2: (RE)FRAMING CORPORATE LAW: DOMINANT NARRATIVES, SYSTEM JUSTIFICATION, DISPOSITIONISM, "STICK" AND "BALL"
Legitimacy3
Agency Theory
System Justification, Dispositionism, and Situationism 4
Enterprise Liability5
Duty of Care & Duty of Loyalty6
PART 3: U.S. PRISON PRIVATIZATION
Finances
Political Influence
Lack of Access to Information9
PART 4: SHAREHOLDER ACTIVISM, LAWSUITS, REBRANDING, AND DIVERSIFICATION
PART 5: POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO THE CORPORATE LAW PROBLEM 13
PART 6: CONCLUSIONS
ENDNOTES15

ABSTRACT

Corporate law and corporate power insulate private correctional owners, operators, and contractors from essential monitoring, oversight, and accountability. The macro scripts that have legitimated the alliance between "private" and "public" actors within the criminal law and carceral sector demonstrate the myriad ways in which these scripts and system justifications disintegrate when subjected to private and public exposure of what really happens inside private detention. Claims of pursuing the public interest (primarily through "tough on crime" approaches and "cost-efficient" outsourcing) within the prison privatization context have normalized and legitimated the violence of displacement and caging, while legitimizing macro scripts have obscured the root causes of poverty and crime through a dominant narrative, supported politically, of "order maintenance."

In this paper, I examine the dispositionist and legitimizing narratives that facilitate the prison industrial complex and its myriad consequences; I challenge fundamental tenets and rationalizations of corporate law in the context of U.S. correctional privatization. In so doing, I highlight the relationship between corrections privatization and the absence of provider accountability, and I offer suggestions for reframing corporate prison industrial complex narratives in order ultimately to dismantle this destructive industry.

Corporate Caging's Human Erasure

How corporate law enables *un*accountability in private jails and prisons

PART 1: INTRODUCTION

Simon and his cellmate, Tina are incarcerated at a privately owned and operated Arizona prison.¹ Separately, they seek assistance from a nonprofit that works with incarcerated people who are sexually abused in custody.

Simon was sexually abused by an older, larger, inmate when he was in a general population housing unit, where residents² are housed in tripletier bunk beds, dozens to a room, with a low ratio of guards to residents. Out of desperation, Simon intentionally fought an officer in order to be transferred to segregated housing (where he would be restricted to a cell designed for one person but housing two).

Tina, Simon's cellmate, was in segregated housing due to her status as a trans woman. The medical staff had refused to provide her hormone therapy, then had provided a dosage that required Tina to endure what she described as "the painful process of repeatedly going through puberty." When Tina reported medical neglect to an officer who began sexually abusing her; Tina submitted to his abuse for fear that without his medical "advocacy," her treatment would terminate again.

The nonprofit advocacy group both detainees contact cannot locate an oversight body within the prison corporation. Subsequently, the nonprofit could not locate Simon or Tina.

What do these tragic stories have to do with corporate law?

Corporate law creates and insulates corporate power, and corporate power significantly contributes to decreased transparency and accountability among privatized detention facilities. In this paper, I examine the dispositionist and legitimizing narratives that facilitate the prison industrial complex and the myriad harms it causes, and I challenge fundamental tenets of, and cover provided by, corporate law, especially in the context of U.S. correctional privatization today; highlight the relationship between corrections privatization and the absence of provider accountability and transparency; and offer suggestions for reframing corporate prison industrial complex narratives in order ultimately to dismantle this destructive industry.

Private investment in the prison industrial complex³ and the growth of mass incarceration have been symbiotic for decades. While government regulation of prisons and jails unquestionably has its limitations, the shift from regulation to markets has often constituted a shift from public visibility and accountability to private *in*visibility and *un*accountability.

This lack of transparency and accountability can manifest in several ways, including increased violence; mismanagement of corrections staff; opaque or nonexistent grievance processes; lack of medical and mental health care data; inadequate or nonexistent platforms for locating incarcerated individuals; inconsistent or nonexistent death records; lower rates of early release and higher rates of recidivism, due to private prison corporations' profit motive to keep their facilities full; and even lobbying efforts to create stricter laws with longer sentences.

Government claims of pursuing the public interest (primarily through being "tough on crime" and "cost-efficiency") within the prison privatization context have normalized and legitimated the violence of displacement and caging, while macro scripts of civil and criminal law have obscured the root causes of poverty and crime through a dominant narrative of "order maintenance." Abolition of private correctional corporate contracts is the only solution.

PART 2: (RE)FRAMING CORPORATE LAW: DOMINANT NARRATIVES, SYSTEM JUSTIFICATION, DISPOSITIONISM, "STICK" AND "BALL"

Legitimacy

Tom R. Tyler's proposition that procedures beget legitimation permeates corporate law, in general, and the private prison industry, in particular.⁴ Corporate law leads the public to rely on corporate governance without any basis for assuming that the law or governance policies and procedures actually rein in corporate power; instead, corporate law is often evidence of the deep capture of corporate legitimation, insofar as it enables and legitimates corporate power.

As the view that corporations are *per se* legitimate persists, corporations enjoy substantial liberty to shape and select the rules with which they comply (and in the instant case, those that apply to court-involved individuals who populate private prisons). The more rules there are, and the "stricter" those rules seem to be, the more legitimate the system and its proponents appear to the general public, and the fact that corporations may have co-opted the administrations and agencies that are supposed to regulate them goes largely unnoticed absent serious scandal (*e.g.*, courts claim to lack expertise on corporate decisionmaking; companies market themselves as having an interest in both the public welfare and regulation). Corporations have a presumption of legitimacy; however, the claim to procedural fairness that rationalizes the dispositionist story upon which mass incarceration and prison privatization are constructed is an illusion.

Agency Theory

Agency theory in corporate law developed to describe corporate relationships in which one person (the agent) is acting on behalf of another person (the principal), subject to the principal's control, and both the agent and principal have consented to this dynamic. This theory evolved to support the assertion that good management could facilitate the alignment of divergent interests.⁵

Agency theory provides a lens for examining prison legitimacy and oversight.⁶ Government entities leverage terms like "monitoring,"

"contracts," and "oversight" to suggest that they have the power to protect non-governmental entities from pursuing interests that would be detrimental to the public. For example, if principals and agents have different values, but "monitoring" can control for that possibility. Citizens rely on government to prevent wrongdoing by private contractors;⁷ however, if the government does not sufficiently monitor its (private prison) contractors, this lack of transparency results in information asymmetry and lack of accountability.⁸

Prisons are built on a dispositionist story that depends on and justifies the disappearance of a large population behind bars, but this disappearance facilitates freedom from transparency and lack of accountability for cost-cutting, profit-maximizing measures.

System Justification, Dispositionism, and Situationism

Corporate legal theory and scholarship have historically championed a rational choice framework for analyzing corporate law, compliance and regulation. Scholars have criticized the rational choice framework through a behavioral economics lens. System justification theory ("SJT") posits "that decision making is embedded in psychological attachments to systems."⁹

Critical realists have coined the term "fundamental attribution error"¹⁰ to describe the phenomenon that "people tend to ascribe the vast majority of human behavior to disposition-based choice, despite the fact that our actions are more a reflection of situation-unseen or underappreciated features in our environment and within our interiors;" however, they also question "how dispositionism maintains its dominance *despite* the fact that it misses so much of what actually moves us."11 These schema inform our criminal legal system. Dispositionist thinking allows us to believe that our high incarceration rates are justified because the people housed in detention facilities deserve to be separated from the general public and punished for their behavior. This rationale supports corporations ensuring public safety by operating correctional facilities. Dispositionism might even lead to a conclusion that incarcerated people deserve corporate impositions like high-cost telecommunication with loved ones.¹² Scholars Adam Benforado and Jon Hanson note that, within our society, "...there are some institutions and interests that have both a particularly strong stake in promoting dispositionism...the most vital of these entities are commercial interests—particularly large, profit-oriented corporations that rely on a firmly engrained dispositionism to ensure their continued

ability to manipulate members of the public to maximize profit while escaping liability and regulation...those interests will be most active in framing policy issues in ways that advance—and protect dispositionism."¹³

Certainly scandals arise in the privatized correctional sphere—and some scandals have received significant publicity—but the corporations behind these scandals still exist today; meanwhile, people have relatives and partners in custody. How does this happen? Benforado and Hanson explain that "s]ituationist explanations threaten conceptions of our ingroups and ourselves....Situationist attributions of prisoner mistreatment are generally disfavored because they stand as a threat to our positive conceptions of ourselves and the groups with which we identify; they suggest that we may, in some sense, be culpable for abuse." The authors cite psychologist Philip Zimbardo's observation: "[W]e want to believe we are good, we are different, we are better" and elaborate that "[a] dispositionist conception of sound, well-reasoned policies implemented incorrectly by a few sadist prison guards against individuals who, in any case, deserved to be mistreated helps us maintain our reassuring sense that 'we are good."¹⁴

Such narratives, like those described above, play a significant role in how we perceive the world around us as just or unjust. The law participates in that process: it needs to legitimize its outcomes to justify its credibility and relevance in society. One of the fundamental questions in the law is "what is the cause of human behavior?"¹⁵ Two main answers typically surface, which can be described as a "stick" and a "ball."¹⁶ "Stick" can be viewed as a person (whether an individual or corporate entity) who is moved by stable preferences; conversely, "ball" is an individual or entity moved by forces other than stable preferences. This distinction is critical: judges punish people who violated our society's laws in some manner ("sticks"), and lawyers argue that these same people are, instead, "balls."

Enterprise Liability

Enterprise liability doctrine exemplifies one way in which corporate law protects individuals as "balls" even if it holds a corporate entity or enterprise accountable as "stick." Courts sometimes employ this doctrine to pool business assets of multiple corporations under the same ownership, disregarding their "separateness," to satisfy the enterprise's liabilities; however, the individual owners' or managers' assets remain protected. In *Walkovsky v. Carlton*, Carlton was the controlling shareholder for ten wholly-owned taxi corporations (a structure utilized to avoid high-cost liability insurance). When one of the cabs injured Walkovsky, he sued the individual cab driver, the nine other subsidiary corporations, and the owner of the parent corporation. The court accepted the enterprise liability charge, reasoning that Carlton held his ten artificially separated corporations out to the public as a single enterprise, but it refused also to hold Carlton personally liable.¹⁷ Thus, the law viewed Carlton as a "ball," whose corporations simply ran into hard times with this accident, and even inferred that the legislature was responsible for addressing this taxi-cab-industry avoidance of costly insurance.

Although Carlton might seem a sympathetic figure, SJT suggests that system justification may lead to unwarranted protection in such circumstances; this in turn illustrates why a foundational corporate law concept, the Business Judgment Rule (the "BJR"), is problematic.

Duty of Care & Duty of Loyalty

In corporate law, directors have two primary obligations: duty of care and duty of loyalty; however, these duties are absent from Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL") and the Model Business Corporation Act ("MBCA"); instead, the duties stem from cases and commentaries. Essentially, courts use the BJR as a doctrine of abstention¹⁸ to limit their jurisdiction over substantive board decisions.¹⁹

In most cases, directors must behave *egregiously* for a court to make an exception to the BJR.²⁰ *Smith v. Van Gorkam* appeared to be a groundbreaking case in holding directors accountable for breaching their duty of care by gross negligence in failing to remain sufficiently informed, but the case's impact was short-lived. The Delaware legislature passed section 102(b)(7) shortly thereafter, and the MBCA followed suit: thus, even if directors are grossly negligent in failing to become sufficiently informed regarding a pending decision, they can still escape liability if covered by a Delaware corporation whose certificate of incorporation that eliminated that duty or are in an MBCA state, where the corporation's articles essentially eliminate the duty of care.²¹

The "duty of loyalty" (to shareholders on the part of directors) also does little to limit managers' discretion regarding whose interests they serve and can become a shield for managers who act of their own accord. And even when managers allude to shareholder interests, this "duty" can be harmful to other constituencies. In *U.S. Workers v. U.S. Steel Corp.*, (1980), for example, the corporation intended to close mills in Youngstown, OH, due to lacking profits. Before doing so, the corporation encouraged workers to endeavor to increase mill profits to prevent closures. The workers followed this directive, but profits still failed to increase. Two workers unions, a Congressman, and the Ohio Attorney General filed lawsuits. On appeal, the court acknowledged the workers' efforts but it declined to rule in favor of the workers, designating the issue a legislative one.²² The company described itself in "ball" terms (subject to the market, regulations, etc.) and the workers as "sticks" (they chose not to invest and modernize).²³ The court's ruling accepted the "ball" characterization; thus, in practice, *U.S. Steel* demonstrates that shareholder primacy can allow managers discretion to ignore other constituencies and gives them license to manipulate and exploit other

Tying these concepts to correctional corporations, such companies justify their extreme measures, and lack of accountability therefor, in "ball" terms, claiming that *criminals are difficult to control*, and *detention facilities are like war zones—you have to do everything you can to maintain control and survive*. This is especially effective when the facilities are overcrowded and understaffed (often intentionally).

PART 3: U.S. PRISON PRIVATIZATION

Overview

Despite reform and abolition efforts nationwide, including some bipartisan efforts to address mass incarceration, the United States continues to maintain the highest rate of incarceration in the world. According to the 2020 version of the Prison Policy Initiative's annual assessment, "[t]he American criminal justice system holds almost 2.3 million people in 1,833 state prisons, 110 federal prisons, 1,772 juvenile correctional facilities, 3,134 local jails, 218 immigration detention facilities, and 80 Indian Country jails as well as in military prisons, civil commitment centers, state psychiatric hospitals, and prisons in the U.S. territories."²⁵

And, according to a 2021 report by The Sentencing Project, "[p]rivate prisons in the U.S. incarcerated 115,428 people in 2019, representing 8% of the total state and federal prison population. Since 2000, the number of people housed in private prisons has increased 32% compared to an overall rise in the prison population of 3%."²⁶ When mass incarceration resulting from the "War on Drugs" soared throughout the

1970s and 1980s, the demand for prison space became so substantial that the private sector identified incarceration as a promising area of opportunity. Consequently, Corrections Corporation of America ("CCA"), the first major private prison corporation, emerged in 1983.²⁷

Today, there are three main private prison corporations: CCA, which rebranded as CoreCivic in 2016, The GEO Group ("GEO"), and The Management & Training Corporation ("MTC"). The top private prison companies make collective revenues upwards of \$3 billion per year. Like corporations in other industries, these companies help fund elections to ensure that they will have influence on legislative decisions that affect them, e.g., that their facilities will continue to receive a significant influx of inmates.²⁸

Thus, when the Reagan Administration's policies on mental health and welfare drove people into prisons, these prisoners became invisible, removed from important U.S. calculations of wages, employment figures, and for funding allocations; consequently, the results of such legitimized assessments became distorted. Moreover, increasing barriers to voting eliminates the political voice of the formerlyincarcerated population, making it nearly impossible for them to take action that might address prison privatization and related issues that formerly-incarcerated people experience.

Finances

A 2016 report found that six banks were especially significant financers of CCA's and GEO's debt.²⁹ The banks benefit by collecting interest, bond, credit, and loan fees; they also invest clients in the companies' shares and own shares themselves. These relationships have helped both companies grow.

Political Influence

Private prison corporations are empowered to wield their political influence and capital to ensure continued profit. For example, GEO profited substantially under President Trump; this was unsurprising given its significant donations to his campaign, which led to a Federal Election Commission ("FEC") complaint that GEO violated a federal ban on government contractors' campaign donations.³⁰ The complaining watchdog group emphasized that the ban "...protects against a...system in which wealthy special interests are rewarded for their political contributions with lucrative government contracts. This, [prevents] the...appearance that taxpayer-funded contracts are for sale." $^{31}\,$ Except when it doesn't.

GEO responded to the complaint by relying on classic corporate law, evoking *Walkovsky* concepts: "Although GEO Corrections Holdings Inc., the company that made the donation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the GEO Group, it is a non-contracting legal entity and has no contracts with any governmental agency."³² The watchdog group countered that the two entities are inseparable: the subsidiary's first contribution³³ correlated with the Department of Justice ("DOJ") recommendation to end federal prison privatization because it found that privatization demonstrably does not cost less and consistently presents major safety concerns for government-operated prisons.³⁴ While GEO's stock value plummeted following this DOJ declaration, it neared its peak value during Trump's early days in office: his campaign platform appealed to the private corrections industry, and GEO seized the opportunity.

A case like this problematizes the limits of *Citizens United*, which does not explicitly address government-contracting companies.³⁵ The FEC has upheld similar contractors' contributions but has imposed sanctions on others; enforcement is inconsistent and administration-dependent.

Lack of Access to Information

Private agencies providing correctional services rely on claims about capacity and confidentiality to ensure maximization of profits from each detainee and unavailability of information. Moreover, unlike governments and notwithstanding their government contracts, private institutions are not automatically³⁶ subject to the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), open-records statutes, and the Administrative Procedures Act.³⁷

While FOIA requests are not necessarily an ideal means of holding institutions accountable, the lack of information or transparency certainly enables corruption. Corrections oversight expert, Michele Deitch, emphasizes that the closed environment of correctional facilities exacerbates the probability of corruption and maladministration.³⁸

PART 4: SHAREHOLDER ACTIVISM, LAWSUITS, REBRANDING, AND DIVERSIFICATION

In mid-2019, GEO held an annual shareholder meeting at which a majority of shareholders passed a resolution³⁹ demanding that GEO disclose its "human rights policies and violations to investors."⁴⁰ The corporation had developed a human rights policy⁴¹ in response to activist shareholders in 2013, but third-party abuse reports had continued. GEO urged investors to oppose the resolution, responding (later revoked):

Our board...does not believe [the shareholder proposal's] adoption...is in the best interests of GEO and its shareholders...more importantly, any report that we produce must give due consideration to the legal, contractual, and statutory obligations GEO has with respect to the confidentiality of information about those in its custody and care...⁴²

Shareholders could certainly suffer consequences of a negative report harming GEO's value, but they arguably face the same risk ultimately if the company perpetrates human rights violations. Indeed, the news reports about this incident cannot have helped GEO's investors either. Still, the corporation hides behind "shareholder primacy" and its "obligation" to stakeholders, notwithstanding that its likelihood of liability for breach of any such "duty" to shareholders is slim to nonexistent.

Around the same time, CoreCivic offered a \$56 million settlement to shareholders in the culmination of a 2016 class action lawsuit, in response to a dramatic decline in the company's value following a highly critical DOJ memo.⁴³

A subsequent article discussed shareholder advocacy, its limitations, and alternatives:

[S]hareholder advocacy has become a more popularized response to human rights violations in large, public companies...faithbased groups engage [most often]....'Shareholder advocacy is important particularly because one of the many problems in private prisons is a lack of transparency,' said [an ACLU director]. Unlike state-run prisons, private prisons are exempt from public records searches... [Shareholder activism has limitations, but] some alternatives have [proven] effective...litigation [is] the most effective means of putting pressure on a corporation...Persuading public officials to step in can be another effective step.

To make shareholder advocacy any more effective, a greater number of GEO shares could be purchased, but...[even one] percent of the company, [costs] major bucks....⁴⁴

The Trump administration brought greater attention to privatized detention through its extreme immigration practices. A combination of shareholder activism, coordinated action, and public pressure, apparently caused JPMorgan Chase and Wells Fargo to divest from the private prison industry in 2019. The federal government, following the DOJ's recommendation, is also cutting ties. Still, several banks continue to finance the industry (and activists caught Wells Fargo attempting to secretly re-engage in 2021). The private corrections problem is pervasive; corporate law and legitimizing macro and micro scripts continue to support the corrections privatization trend.

Diversification and rebranding strategies also contribute to the correctional corporation growth:

[CoreCivic]...began buying up...'halfway houses'...where most federal prisoners spend the final months of their sentences...CoreCivic has also [diversified] outside the criminal justice and immigration systems...[launching] a properties division to buy and lease office space to federal agencies...as of [2020]

CoreCivic was 'the largest private owner of real estate used by U.S. government agencies.⁴⁵



Figure : CoreCivic Diversification 2014-2020

Source: https://www.themarshallproject.org/2020/11/17/think-private-prisoncompanies-are-going-away-under-biden-they-have-other-plans

GEO has also invested heavily in reentry, more than tripling its number of reentry programs over the past decade. GEO also has cornered the electronic monitoring ("EM") market "since buying the ankle monitor company B.I. Incorporated in 2010...the monitoring company has more than doubled the number of people it tracks to nearly 150,000."⁴⁶

Legitimizing narratives suggest that these "alternatives to incarceration" are good. The script that *detainees are dangerous and deserving of punishment, so cost-efficient control is good for public safety*, continues to portray a different version of the same harm. The new script, that *privatized detention is bad, and alternatives to incarceration are more humane*, is not comprehensive—further serving to justify injustice through legitimizing terms. The only way to dismantle such persistent injustices is to expose their illegitimacy.

Storytelling is a powerful expository tool; it is also central to the Critical Race Theory tradition. Before law school, I worked for an organization that seeks to end sexual abuse in all forms of detention. I conducted focus groups in Los Angeles County's Men's Central Jail, which has a unit called K6G, housing detainees who identify as LGBTQI+.⁴⁷ Focus group participants shared that halfway houses felt less safe than the

already unsafe K6G unit, and even homelessness on the streets, which many ultimately chose even though it often led to rearrest. People released to halfway houses lack control over their assignment. When they feel threatened in "rehabilitation" entities, they often leave, thereby violating the terms of their release. While the K6G residents described that path as a rational choice, it is not "rational" in the sense that legal economists or corporate law narratives might suggest; rather, these stories turn the emerging *incarceration is bad; rehabilitation facilities are good* script on its head.

In 48 states, people deemed "lower risk" are now subjected to EM, paying for their own supervision when they would otherwise not be under surveillance. This makes the practice profitable for the EM companies and cost-saving for municipalities that otherwise would spend more per person in custody and would not profit off of unincarcerated people.⁴⁸ For example, one major EM company "charges a setup fee of \$179, then...approximately \$300 per month...The cost falls not upon the court or county but on the person shackled to the device. Those who can't afford the cost are sent to jail," and those who can afford it are paying for local prisoners.⁴⁹

People subjected to EM have found that it strains the monitored person's relationships, employment, and finances. EM costs even drive families into financial ruin.

PART 5: POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO THE CORPORATE LAW PROBLEM

Corporate law enables companies, their employees, and investors to profit off of people stripped of their liberty and, in many cases, denied sufficient care, safety, nutrition, wages, representation, and communication. Moreover, their existence out of custody, whether through "rehabilitation," EM, or otherwise is defined by barriers that harm their entire communities. Finally, these corporations obscure violence, trauma, addiction, and deaths, sometimes without taking any corrective measures internally.⁵⁰ A humane approach to public safety concerns requires the abolition of incarceration. The best interim solution is truly independent correctional oversight and an end to the entire correctional privatization industry.

There are additional methods for fighting this corporate correctional

assault on humanity. For example, Worth Rises offers a "curriculum"⁵¹ through which the general public can learn about the prison industrial complex and steps they can take, financially and otherwise, towards abolishing it. Another organization, called As You Sow, has created an investment analysis tool to assist users with screening their investments for private corrections affiliations.

While the concepts of Corporate Social Responsibility ("CSR") and Environmental, Social, and Corporate Governance ("ESG") are imperfect, they nonetheless offer lessons in how to inform, inspire, and evaluate corporate and/or investor actions and regulatory responses to pervasive injustice. RFP processes can also offer lessons about where contracting and outsourcing go wrong, as well as the indicators of corruption. Litigation is a powerful tool and can result in courtappointed monitoring. Prison law and policy experts can be especially effective monitors. Finally, abolitionist proposals can provide checkpoints, inspiration, and vision throughout what could be an arduous dismantling process.

PART 6: CONCLUSIONS

Corporate law and corporate power insulate private prison owners, operators, and contractors from essential monitoring, oversight, and accountability. The macro scripts that have legitimated the alliance between "private" and "public" actors within the criminal law and carceral sector demonstrate the myriad ways in which these scripts and system justifications disintegrate when subjected to private and public exposure of what really happens inside private detention. Claims of pursuing the public interest (primarily through "tough on crime" approaches and "cost-efficient" outsourcing) within the prison privatization context have normalized and legitimated the violence of displacement and caging, while legitimizing macro scripts have obscured the root causes of poverty and crime through a dominant narrative, supported politically, of "order maintenance."

The lack of transparency and accountability enjoyed by private corrections providers is also consistent with troubling examples outside of the carceral state. Absent, or until, prison abolition, a humane approach to violence and crime prevention will require the urgent and permanent termination of all private correctional contracts, and greater transparency and accountability in the interim.

ENDNOTES

¹ These are slightly altered stories from time I spent working with clients who were sexually abused in custody nationwide.

 2 I use the terms "residents," "detainees," or "people who are incarcerated" to focus on the people suffering from this problem.

³ See Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary, Prison Industrial Complex, MERRIAM-WEBSTER, https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/prison%20industrial%20complex. Accessed 8 May. 2021 ("the profit-driven relationship between the government, the private companies that build, manage, supply, and service prisons, and related groups (such as prison industry unions and lobbyists) regarded as the cause of increased incarceration rates especially of poor people and minorities and often for nonviolent crimes").

⁴ Tom R. Tyler, *Psychological Perspectives on Legitimacy and Legitimation*, 57 ANNUAL REVIEW OF PSYCHOLOGY, 375 (2006).

⁵ See Marco González, Information Asymmetry in Private Prison Management: Monitoring and Oversight As the Basis for Private Prison Legitimacy, PUBLIC CONTRACT LAW JOURNAL (2018).

⁶ Id.

⁷ See id. at 390.

⁸ See id. at 391.

⁹ Jon Hanson & John Jost, eds., *Ideology, Psychology, and Law*, 111 OXFORD UNIV. PRESS (2012).

10 Id. at 299.

 $^{\scriptscriptstyle 11}$ Id. at 454.

 12 Id. at 467.

¹³ Id. at 469.

¹⁴ Id. at 477.

¹⁵ Lecture by Jon Hanson, Harvard Law School, Jan 27, 2021.

 16 *Id.*

¹⁷ See Walkovsky v. Carlton, 223 N.E.2d 6 (N.Y. 1996).

¹⁸ See generally Stephen M. Bainbridge, *The Business Judgment Rule as an Abstention Doctrine*, 57 Vand. L. Rev. 83 (2004).

¹⁹ See Shlensky v Wrigley, 237 NE 2d 776 (Ill. App. 1968).

²⁰ For rare BJR exceptions, *see*, *e.g.*, Litwin v. Allen, 25 N.Y.S.2d 667 (1940); Joy v. North, 692 F.2d 880 (1982).

²¹ For related cases about directors' and boards' duties, *see* Barnes v. Andrews, 298 F. 614 (1924) (holding that burden is on the plaintiff to demonstrate that director breached duty of care and that breach caused corporation's loss); In re Caremark Int'l, 698 A.2d 959 (Del. Ch. 1996) (holding, "a director's obligation includes a duty to attempt in good faith to assure that a corporate information and reporting system, which the board concludes is adequate, exists, and that failure to do so *under some circumstances may, in theory...*render a director liable...." (emphasis added)). See also Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362 (Del. 2006).

²² U.S. Workers v. U.S. Steel Corp., 631 F.2d 1264 (6th Cir. 1980).

²³ For similar examples in different contexts, *see* Meinhard v. Salmon, 249 N.Y. 458, 164 N.E. 545 (1928) and Vohland v. Sweet, 433 N.E.2d 860 (Ind. Ct. App. 1982).

²⁴ Lecture by Jon Hanson, Harvard Law School, April 14, 2021.

²⁵ Wendy Sawyer and Peter Wagner, *Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2020*, PRISON POLICY INITIATIVE, March 24, 2020, https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/pie2020.html.

²⁶ Kevin Muhitch & Nazgol Ghandnoosh, *Private Prisons in the United* States, THE SENTENCING PROJECT (March 03, 3, 2021) https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/private-prisons-united-states/.

²⁷ See Madison Pauly, A Brief History of America's Private Prison Industry, MOTHER JONES (2016), https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2016/06/history-of-americas-private-prison-industry-timeline/.

²⁸ See The Political Bribe that Turned Prisoners into Profits, REPRESENTUS, https://represent.us/action/private-prisons/ (last visited March 20, 2021); Prisons for Profit, ACLU OHIO, https://www.acluohio.org/prisons-for-profit (last visited 03/18/21) (highlighting that CCA spent over \$17 million on lobbying from 2002-2012).

²⁹ See Programs Not Profits & In the Public Interest, *The Banks hat Finance Private Prison Companies*, IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST (Nov. 2016).

³⁰ See Jerry Iannelli, Critics Slam Florida Senate President for Taking Cushy Job With Private-Prison Giant and ICE Contractor, MIAMI NEW TIMES (Dec. 15, 2018) https://www.miaminewtimes.com/news/florida-senator-joe-negron-takes-geo-groupprivate-prison-job-10941263; Keegan Hamilton, A big private prison operator funded a Trump campaign super PAC, VICE NEWS (Dec. 20, 2016) https://www.vice.com/en/article/evaj4j/geo-group-may-have-illegally-funded-a-trump-6 super-pac; Sophia Gonsalves-Brown, *Federal Contractors Continue to Ignore Contribution Ban and Donate to Super PACs*, THE CAMPAIGN LEGAL CENTER (Oct. 28, 2020) https://campaignlegal.org/update/federal-contractors-continue-ignore-contribution-ban-and-donate-super-pacs.

³¹ Gonsalves-Brown, *supra* note 30.

³² See Hamilton, supra note 30.

³³ See Rebuilding America Now, 2016 Post-General Report at 13, FEC Form 3X (Filed Dec. 08, 2016), https://docquery.fec.gov/pdf/740/201612089039950740/201612089039950740.pdf.

³⁴ See Evaluation and Inspections Div., *Review of the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Monitoring of Contract Prisons*, DEP'T OF JUST. (Aug. 2016).

³⁵ See Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310; Hamilton, *supra* note 30 (quoting Brennan Center senior counsel and comparing GEO to FEC-approved contribution from Chevron, which also has federally-contracted subsidiary).

³⁶ See Detention Watch Network v. Corrections Corporation of America, 2017 WL 4122728 (2d Cir. 2017), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 317, 199 L. Ed. 2d 233 (2017).

³⁷ Center for Constitutional Rights, *Supreme Court Rules in Favor of Government Transparency Against Private Prison Corporations*, (Oct. 10, 2017) https://ccrjustice.org/home/press-center/press-releases/supreme-court-rules-favor-government-transparency-against-private (discussing Detention Watch Network v. Corrections Corporation of America, 2017 WL 4122728 (2d Cir. 2017), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 317, 199 L. Ed. 2d 233 (2017)).

³⁸ Michele Deitch, *Independent Correctional Oversight Mechanisms Across the United States: A 50-State Inventory*, PACE LAW REVIEW 30, no. 5 (2010): 1762, https://digitalcommons.pace.edu/plr/vol30/iss5/21.

³⁸ Interview with Michele Deitch on March 6, 2020.

³⁹ Resolution was filed by a religious activist. See, e.g., Will Young, Catholic Shareholder Activist Challenge Private Prison System, SOJOURNERS (May 6, 2019) https://sojo.net/articles/catholic-shareholder-activists-challenge-private-prisonsystem. Proposal available at: https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/923796/000121465919002764/j415191px14a 6g.htm.

⁴⁰ Iannelli, *supra* note 30.

⁴¹ See GEO Group, Inc., The GEO Group, Inc. Global Human Rights Policy, GEO GROUP (2013).

⁴² Iannelli, *supra* note 30 (quoting GEO Group).

⁴³ See Grae v. Corrections Corporation of America, 2017 WL 6442145 (M.D.Tenn., 2017); Grae v. Corrections Corporation of America, 2021 WL 1100799 (M.D.Tenp₇)

2021). See also Travis Loller, CoreCivic to settle shareholder lawsuit or \$56 million, AP NEWS (Apr. 19, 2021) https://apnews.com/article/lawsuits-tennessee-24b8d81200667d2ba4a612e91ec3c346.

⁴⁴ Young, *supra* note 39.

⁴⁵ Jamiles Lartey, *Think Private Prison Companies Are Going Away Under Biden? They Have Other Plans*, THE MARSHALL PROJECT (Nov. 17, 2020) https://www.themarshallproject.org/2020/11/17/think-private-prison-companies-aregoing-away-under-biden-they-have-other-plans.

⁴⁶ *Id*.

⁴⁷ See Sharon Dolovich, Strategic Segregation in the Modern Prison, 48 AM. CRIM. L. REV., 1 (July 26, 2011).

⁴⁸ See Maya Schenwar & Victoria Law, *Prison By Any Other Name*, THE NEW PRESS (2020) at 40-49.

⁴⁹ *Id.*

⁵⁰ See generally Andrea C. Armstrong, No prisoner left behind: Enhancing public transparency of penal institutions, 25 STAN. L. & POL'Y REV., 435 (2014); Shane Bauer, American Prison: A Reporter's Undercover Journey into the Business of Punishment, Penguin Books (2018)

⁵¹ Worth Rises, *The Prison Industry: The Curriculum* (2021) https://worthrises.org/courseintroduction.